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CHRISTIAN ORTHODOX HERITAGE IN KOSOVO.

From Byzantine Glory to Modern Catastrophe

In order to see the finest monuments of Late Byzantine architecture and monumental painting one must visit the region of Kosovo (what is referred to as ‘Kosovo’ today historically encompasses two distinct regions: Kosovo and Metohija).   Constituting the heartland of the medieval Serbian state, Kosovo and Metohija over a period of several decades, became an area where the best builders, sculptors and painters from different parts, were brought together under the auspices of the Serbian kings and archbishops, to build and decorate major religious foundations. On a relatively small territory of just over 10,000 km2 (ca. 100 x 100km) one can see four world-class monuments that originated under these unique circumstances: the complex of churches of the Serbian Patriarchate at Pec, the church of Bogorodica (Mother of God) Ljeviska in Prizren, the church of the Annunciation (now the Dormition) at Gracanica Monastery, and the Church of the Pantokrator at Decani Monastery, along with scores of other smaller churches and monastic establishments.  Of these four monuments, only one – Monastery of Decani -- is on UNESCO’s list of the World Cultural Heritage, and only since 2004.  Ironically, in March of the same year when Decani was finally added to the list of the World Cultural Heritage, the church of Bogorodica Ljeviska suffered major damage due to intentional torching by the Albanian nationalists during a two-day region-wide rioting that witnessed, among other crimes, also the coordinated destruction of thirty Serbian monasteries and churches.  The events of March 2004 followed an earlier wave of similarly motivated destruction that took place in the summer of 1999, after the administration of Kosovo and Metohija was taken over by UNMIK (United Nations Mission in Kosovo).  At that time as many 120 Serbian churches and monasteries were destroyed.  At least ten percent of those were medieval monuments.  The protection of the remaining Serbian cultural heritage in Kosovo and Metohija has become an acute issue.  The expected signs of improved conditions within the region are nowhere apparent and ominous air of uncertainty looms heavy over Serbian national patrimony that includes some of the finest treasures of Byzantine architecture and art.  The Serbian medieval heritage of Kosovo and Metohija – churches and monasteries collectively, and without delay – must be put on the list of the world’s most endangered monuments.  Raising the consciousness of the general public as to this need is imperative in order to ensure the preservation of masterpieces of art contemporary with Giotto’s frescoes at the Arena Chapel frescoes in Padova, and in many ways their equals.   The following text aims at providing a brief introduction to the medieval history of the region and its rich artistic heritage by highlighting the four mentioned major monuments. 

Brief Geographic and Historical Introduction

The region of Kosovo and Metohija, an autonomous province of the Republic of Serbia until 1999, covers an area of 10,887 square kilometers. Situated in the heart of the Balkan Peninsula, the region is surrounded by high mountains and their foothills – Kopaonik, to the north; Sar Planina and Skopska Crna Gora to the south; and Prokletije, to the west.  Its two dominant plains – Kosovo, in the east and Metohija, in the west – stretch to the north and south, forming the basins of the Ibar with Sitnica rivers and the Beli Drim river, respectively.  These two fertile plains constitute the main arable lands of the region, while the hills and low mountains in the central and eastern part of Kosovo are ideally suited for sheep razing.  The region has great natural resources. It is rich in coal, lead, silver and other metals and minerals.  

The region was urbanized by the Romans, who were conscious of its natural resources.  The main urban center in Roman times was the city of Ulpiana (in the sixth century also known as Iustiniana Secunda) – whose remains have been partially excavated in the Kosovo Plain, ca. 10km southwest of Pristina.  Ulpiana, possibly founded by Emperor Trajan, grew into a major fortified settlement in late antiquity.  As a major Early Christian center in the fourth century and later, the town had multiple churches, one of which housed the relics of the renown Christian martyrs, Florus and Laurus, masons from the time of Diocletian.  The city was at its peak during the reign of Emperor Justinian (527-65), but was destroyed a few decades later during the massive invasions by the Avars and the Slavs.  Ulpiana, as well as other Early Byzantine centers, such as the fortified episcopal center at Hvosno, were all devastated by the end of the sixth century.  

The first signs of renewed cultural life in the region are associated with the re-conquest of the central Balkans by the Byzantines, under Emperor Basil II in 1018.  Archaeology has brought to light the remains of several churches associated with Emperor Basil’s efforts to reclaim and re-populate the entire central part of the Balkan Peninsula in the wake of his final victory over the Bulgarian tsar Samuel.  

The rise of the Serbian state in the second half of the twelfth century coincided with the decline of the Byzantine Empire and its demise as a result of the Fourth Crusade in 1204.  The thirteenth century saw a rapid rise in Serbia’s economic and political strength that manifested itself in its cultural output.  First major buildings and datable works of art appear in the region of Kosovo at this time.  Following the establishment of the Serbian Kingdom (in 1217), and of an independent Archbishopric (in 1219), Serbia’s rulers, followed by the Serbian clergy and nobility, began to invest in a major way in the construction of churches and monasteries.  The focus was on the creation of resplendent mausoleum-churches for royal burials, but at the same time on the creation of important cultural centers within related monasteries, that served as focal points of learning and general cultural activity (literature, music, painting, metal work, etc).

The political map of the Balkan Peninsula continued to change during the first half of the fourteenth century, witnessing among other developments, also the southward expansion of the Serbian state.  The conquest of Skopje by the Serbs in 1282, and their making it into their new capital, sealed the fate of the region of Macedonia north of the Prilep-Stip line for the next one hundred years.  The conquest was formalized by a negotiated peace treaty, between Byzantium and Serbia in 1299, according to which Simonis, the youngest daughter of Emperor Andronikos II, was married to the much older Serbian King Milutin (1282-1321).  

A group of important churches and monasteries were built in Serbia during the first decades of the fourteenth century that reveal a strong Byzantine impact. Begun around 1300, shortly after King Milutin’s marriage to the Byzantine princess Simonis, this phenomenon was viewed in historiography as a result of the southward expansion of the Serbian state into Byzantine territories where the Byzantine-trained builders would naturally have been found.  The explanation is actually more complex and cannot be understood without the illumination of its political background.  It should be noted first that Serbia’s southward expansion began already in 1282, with the conquest of Skopje, the main Byzantine center in the area.  However, no Byzantine-style churches were built under King Milutin’s auspices until after 1300.  Clearly, this illuminates the phenomenon not as a pragmatic coincidence, but as a calculated choice.  After his marriage to Simonis, King Milutin began to view himself as a peer of the Byzantine emperor.  Programmatic ‘byzantinization’ of Serbia that ensued, also involved patronage of architecture now built in overtly Byzantine style and by the best Byzantine builders.  Economically strong and driven by great ambition, King Milutin was capable of direct competition with the Byzantine emperor in matters of culture, which he exercised to the fullest extent.  

It was under King Milutin and his immediate successors – his son Stefan Decanski (1321-1331) and his grandson, Dusan (1331-1355) – that Serbia reached the peak of its economic prosperity and political strength.  This period also marks the apogee of Serbia’s cultural output during which the Serbian rulers openly competed with the Byzantine Emperor in matters of formal attire, ostentatious life style, but also in matters of general patronage of the arts.  It was after ca 1310 that Serbia emerged as the principal generator of artistic production in the Balkans.  The very finest achievements in art and architecture of this period were actually built on the territory of Kosovo and Metohija under the auspices of the Serbian rulers:  Stefan Uros II Milutin, Stefan Uros III Decanski, and Stefan Dusan.  All three chose to built their lavishly outfitted and richly endowed monasteries with personal mausoleum-churches on the territory of Kosovo and Metohija, while the seat of the Serbian Orthodox Church became permanently settled in the Monastery at Pec.  Serbia’s economic prosperity also reflected itself in the fact that the rulers selected this very region for the construction of their country residences, the knowledge about which is preserved in written sources only.  During the same period of time wealthy nobility began to assert itself by engaging in active patronage of the arts in its own right.  As a result, during the first half of the fourteenth century the region of Kosovo and Metohija became the busiest area in the Balkans from the point of view of new church construction and painting.  

Major Foundations 

1.
The Serbian Orthodox Patriarchate at Pec

Practically simultaneously with the construction of the main monastic churches at Zica and Studenica Hvostanska, another important church may have been initiated under the auspices of Serbia's first archbishop, Sava I -- the Church of the Holy Apostles at Pec, Serbia.  Despite our considerable knowledge about the complex of the later Serbian Patriarchate, the exact circumstances and the date of the thirteenth-century construction at Pec remain obscure.  What is clear, however, is that an older, probably eleventh-century three-aisled basilica may have stood on the site, and that a substantial portion of its nave was incorporated into the new church. Measuring ca. 8 x 28m, the church had an identical length as the main church of Studenica Monastery, though it was considerably narrower.  The overall proportions of the building were somewhat odd, because of the incorporation of a large portion of the older church that became the western part of the new naos and narthex.  The new church featured a domed bay, with two laterally projecting 'low transept' wings, a deep sanctuary terminating in a large apse, semicircular internally as well as externally.  Unlike at the churches at Zica and Studenica Hvostanska, the main apse of the Church of the Holy Apostles was flanked by a pair of chapels ('pastophories') featuring small semicircular apses. This arrangement, that appears to have become standard in subsequent buildings, seems to have been introduced here for the first time.  Another noteworthy feature, also apparently a contemporary innovation, was the fact that the southern chapel ('diakonikon') was fully segregated from the naos, and was made accessible only through the sanctuary.  The church also included another pair of chapels, flanking the western part of the building.   Here, this pair of chapels was associated with the western arm of the naos and not with the narthex, as was the case at Zica.  Because of its dependence on an earlier building, the church of the Holy Apostles at Pec inherited relatively low proportions reflected in the comparatively low height of its dome, vaults, and the conch of its main apse.  If we add to this the smooth cylindrical exterior form of its dome, as well as its relatively crude construction technique, the church of the Holy Apostles appears as a very archaizing building. It is impossible to determine all of the reasons for such an anachronistic appearance.  One distinct possibility may be that it may have been the work of one of the first local building workshops that must have started forming in Serbia as a result of the intensive construction activity that first took place under Stefan Nemanja. The final impression the building would have given in medieval times would have been the function of its red, plastered facades with some painted decorative accents traces of which have been detected on parts of the church during its recent restoration. All of this was covered by yet another coat of painted plaster with more elaborate decorative patterns, after the fourteenth century additions and the remodeling of the entire complex.  

Repeated Bulgarian and Cuman raids into the territory of Serbia during the last decades of the thirteenth century inflicted damage on Zica, the seat of the Serbian archbishop.  After one of these raids, ca. 1285, or possibly in 1291, for reasons of greater security, it was decided to move the functions of the Archbishopric from Zica to Pec.  In the aftermath of this move, the status of the Church of the Holy Apostles rose rapidly, as it eventually became the burial church of the Serbian Archbishops and later Patriarchs, a function it retained throughout the medieval period.  While the concept of the Church of the Apostles at Pec, as well as most of its construction may have been the work of the first Serbian Archbishop, Sava I, its completion, particularly its fresco decoration, appear to have been accomplished by his successor Arsenije, possibly as late as ca. 1260.  The fresco program of the Church of the Apostles is remarkable in several respects.  Along with a number of other impressive thirteenth-century fresco cycles executed in royal churches in Serbia – Churches of Mileseva and Sopocani Monasteries being the most notable among them – the frescoes of the church at Pec appear to have been the work of foreign painters, who may have worked only on this particular church.  No older church frescoes anywhere display affinities with their style, nor is there any evidence of the style reappearing in any of the subsequently painted churches.  The program at Pec, therefore, is unique, and is distinguished by several notable archaisms related to its particular functions.  Built in emulation of the church at Zica Monastery, its fresco program was evidently also based on ideas derived from the Church of the Apostles on Sion in Jerusalem.  Serbian Archbishop Nikodim, writing in 1318-19 states that Archbishop Sava during his pilgrimage to the Holy Land “…having seen in the Holy City of Jerusalem the image of the glorious church of Sion and of St. Sabbas of Jerusalem, (wished) to make in accordance with the same image this great church” (in Pec).”  The “Mother Church” of all Christian cathedral churches, thus became the model for two Serbian churches, both of which – Zica at first, later followed by Pec – became known as the “Mother Church” in the Serbian context.  The choice of the main scenes in the space directly under the main dome – the Resurrection of Lazarus, Doubting Thomas, the Last Supper, Pentecost, and the Appearance to the Apostles – reveals heavy reliance on the Sion prototype.  Only the Raising of Lazarus deviates from the Sion scheme.  Its presence has to do with the intended funerary function of the church.  This was prominently reflected in the choice of other subjects in the most prominent locations in the church – the Ascension, in the dome, and the Deësis, in the conch of the main apse.  Both of these choices were quite rare in later Byzantine churches.  Their selection, obviously, was informed by the intent to make the Church of the Holy Apostles the mausoleum of Serbian Archbishops.  Archbishop Arsenije, in fact, became the first Serbian archbishop to be buried there.  

The preserved frescoes in the main part of the church include also the composition of the Adoration of the Amnos in the lower part of the apse, and the Communion of the Apostles on two sides of the barrel vault in front of the apse.  The latter arrangement is most unusual and was evidently the result of the extremely squat proportions of the church inherited from the re-used remains of an older church on the site.  The Adoration of the Amnos depicts two symmetrically disposed groups of Church Fathers.  The group on the left includes also the figure portrait of the first Serbian Archbishop, and by this time also Saint, Sava .  Though not unknown in the Byzantine world, the practice of including a local saint into the procession of the Church Fathers was relatively rare.  Its appearance here is the first such a case in the Serbian context.  Sava’s posthumous portrait appears once more in the apse of the prothesis, where he is depicted officiating in the Liturgy in the company of his living successor, Archbishop Arsenije.  The inclusion of a living Archbishop in such a location in the church was yet another unprecedented innovation in the context of Serbian painting.  

The western part of the church of the Apostles, though heavily remodeled in the subsequent centuries, has preserved several venerable tombs, lined along the walls of its elongated barrel-vaulted interior.  Among these stand out the tombs of the archbishops St. Arsenije (1233-63),  St. Sava II (1263-71), and St. Janicije II (1337-46; Patriarch 1346-54). The church also contains the remains of Archbishop St. Nikodim I (1316-24), kept in a reliquary to the left of the church iconostasis.  On the opposite, right side of the iconostasis is a reliquary with the remains of the five Early Christian martyrs – SS. Eustrathios, Eugenios, Axentios, Mardarios, and Orestes.  The church of the Apostles contains another important feature – the Patriarchal throne – situated against the west wall of the south transept wing.  The ‘throne’ is actually a marble enclosure within which the actual throne must have stood.  The throne was evidently installed at the time when Stefan Dusan, elevated Archbishop Janicije II to the rank of Patriarch, paving the way for his own coronation as “Emperor of the Serbs and the Greeks”.  

In the course of the third decade of the fourteenth century the church was enlarged into a major complex with the addition of the Church of S. Demetrius, the Church of the Mother of God, the chapel of St. Nicholas, and a sizeable exonarthex.  The expansion of the original church in stages, within a relatively short period of time may have had to do with new functional needs, not the least among which must have been the need for additional burial spaces for the Serbian archbishops.  The Church of Demetrius was built first (1321-24), under the auspices of Archbishop Nikodim, whose links with Hilandar, as well as his role in the implementation of the new Church Typikon (1319) are of particular importance.  The new church replaced the original north lateral chapel of Church of the Holy Apostles. The church is a single-aisled building in plan, measuring ca. 7.3 x 15m.  Its architectural character, especially its dome on an eight-sided drum, reveals a strong Byzantine input, in all likelihood reaching Serbia via Hilandar Monastery.  The only details that are distinctly not linked with the Byzantine building tradition are its Romanesque-Gothic stone window frames in the apse and in the western bay.  These suggest that the team of builders may have also included some local craftsmen, while the master-builder either came directly from the Byzantine Empire, or at least, was trained in the Byzantine building tradition. Though seriously damaged and heavily restored in later times, the church has preserved a large portion of its fourteenth-century frescoes.  The most remarkable among these are frescoes on the large cross vault over the western bay of the church.  In the center of the vault is a medallion with the bust of Christ Emanuel, surrounded on all four sides by representations of different Church Councils. Along the main east-west axis are depicted the first two of the Ecumenical Councils – Nicaea (325), presided over by Emperor Constantine the Great, and Constantinople (381), presided over by Emperor Theodosius I.  Along the north-south axis are depicted two Serbian Councils – an imaginary state council presided over by St. Simeon (Stefan Nemanja) and St. King Milutin, on the north side, and a church council presided over by St. Sava, the first archbishop of the independent Serbian Orthodox church.  The juxtaposition of the universal Ecumenical Church councils with those of the Serbian Church and state was a product of the ideological climate prevalent in Serbia around 1345-46, at the time these frescoes were painted.  It was in 1346 that King Stefan Dusan had himself crowned the “Emperor of the Serbs and the Greeks” by the first Serbian Patriarch, elevated to that rank in conjunction with Stefan Dusan’s own plans.  The presence of these frescoes attests to the highest levels of sophistication in the planning of fresco programs developed in Serbia during the first half of the fourteenth century.  The main apse of the church contains a magnificent fresco of the Mother of God Platytera adored by two Angels.  The inscriptions on the frescoes are in Greek (Mother of God) and in Old Church Slavonic (Angels).  At the base of the fresco, between the left Angel and the Mother of God is a large, highly visible inscription in Greek, identifying the painter Iôan (John).  Generally speaking, such inscriptions are extremely rare.  It is possible that the painter, in this case, was a monk in the monastery at Pec, thus earning the privilege of identifying himself in this context.  

In the church of St. Demetrius are preserved the tombs of three Serbian patriarchs: St. Sava IV (1354-75), St. Jefrem (1376-82), and St. Spiridon (1382-87) marked by elaborately carved pseudo-sarcophagi.  These, along with the carvings on the well preserved marble iconostasis of the church attest to the developments in monumental sculpture in Serbia during the fourteenth century.  Though links with the western tradition were strong in Serbia during the same period of time, the iconostasis of the Church of St. Demetrius and the patriarchal tombs clearly indicate that the Byzantine sculptural input during the same period of time was also present.   

The Church of the Mother of God, added along the south flank of the church of the Holy Apostles, also as a replacement of a small original lateral chapel, was constructed between 1324 and 1330, under the auspices of Archbishop Danilo II (1325-37), one of the most influential ecclesiastical figures in medieval Serbia, as a place of his eventual burial.  The church is based on a somewhat elongated four-pier cross-in-square type that had become extremely popular during the first decades of the fourteenth century.  Measuring ca. 10.5 x 17.5m in plan, it is larger than the average private churches of the period that commonly employ the same scheme.  As was the case with the church of St. Demetrius, the building’s forms as well as the building technique betray the work of Byzantine or Byzantine-trained builders.  Similarly, multiple stone Romanesque-Gothic window frames, as in the case of the church of St. Demetrius, suggest that local artisans were also members of the construction team. The church contains the tomb of Archbishop Danilo II marked by a splendid pseudo-sarcophagus made of red-speckled local stone featuring elaborate arcading, crosses and other symbols executed in relief.   In addition to containing the tomb of its founder, the church also has a reliquary with the remains of the archbishop St. Sava III (1309-16), placed to the left against the iconostasis.  On the opposite, right side of the iconostasis, one finds a much later ciborium that enshrines a venerable icon of the Most Holy Mother of God Pecka. According to a legend inscribed on the icon itself, this icon was brought by St. Sava from Jerusalem and its origins go back to the time of Christ’ Ascension.  The icon is actually of a much later date, but the recorded legend underscores the importance attached to the cult of the Mother of God in her church at Pec.  The cult is of particular significance to the nuns who, since the 1960s inhabit the monastery.  The church walls and vaults are covered with, relatively speaking well-preserved frescoes. Noteworthy are the choices and the placement of particular subjects, clearly reflecting the input of the patron – Archbishop Danilo II.  Especially interesting is the choice of themes appearing in the proximity of the Archbishop’s tomb in the northwest corner of the church.  These include: Moses and the Burning Bush, the Tabernacle of Wisdom, and the Feeding of the Poor.  The appearance of Alexis the Man of God, facing the tomb, underscores the ascetic ideals of Danilo II, the monk.  A remarkable portrait of Danilo II with the model of the churches in hand and in the company of Prophet Danil (his namesake) on the west wall, south of the entrance portal, gives us not only an idea of the physical appearance of Danilo II, but also of the complex of the churches at Pec at the time of the conclusion of Danilo’s expansion project (Fig.   ).  Especially significant in the fresco is the appearance of the church belfry in front of the church complex, known also from the written sources, but destroyed during the Ottoman times.  The belfry, as is also known from the sources, included a chapel dedicated to St. Daniel Stylites, another namesake of Archbishop Danilo II.  

The architectural patronage of the complex at Pec by Archbishop Danilo II was completed with the addition of a small Chapel of St. Nicholas at the southeast corner of the Church of the Mother of God and a spacious narthex in front of all three main churches.  The narthex, on account of its extraordinary size and its distinctive character, deserves particular attention.  Though resembling exonarthexes commonly built around that time, this was actually a narthex in a more conventional sense, serving simultaneously all three churches. In its present form, it is the result of a major reconstruction carried out in the sixteenth century following the 1557 restoration of the Serbian Patriarchate.  Prior to that time and following the Ottoman conquest of these territories in 1455, the complex of the Patriarchate was abandoned and the narthex with a belfry in front of it was substantially destroyed.  The sixteenth-century reconstruction followed the original concept and incorporated all of the remaining portions of the fourteenth-century structure.  The main differences were that the narthex was no longer an open structure and that it no longer had a belfry, on axis with the Church of the Holy Apostles, standing in front of it.  In accordance with Ottoman legal prescriptions, the narthex could be restored, but the rebuilding of the belfry and the use of bells was not allowed.  Following a detailed study of the complex of the churches at Pec, it is now known that the narthex as completed under the auspices of Archbishop Danilo II was a large open construction featuring six large arches on its main, west façade and a pair arches on its south and north short façades.  Measuring ca. 9 x 25m in plan, it was internally subdivided into two rows of six vaulted bays supported by a row of five freestanding octagonal columns.  A partial reconstruction of the original narthex is possible owing to its various preserved elements, as well as thanks to model of the churches shown in the hands of Archbishop Danilo II on his fresco donor portrait in the Church of the Mother of God.  The open character of the narthex, as completed ca. 1330, may be usefully compared with other similar narthexes and exonarthexes built during the first half of the fourteenth century in Serbia, but also in Byzantium.  The appearance of a belfry is another significant aspect of this complex.  As we now know, many Late Byzantine and Serbian churches had belfries.  Because of the Islamic aversion to the sound of bells, their use was prohibited by the Ottoman authorities, bells were systematically destroyed and often belfries as well. 

Despite the damage it had suffered and the extensive rebuilding and re-painting it underwent in the sixteenth century, the narthex has preserved much of its original character and many of its fourteenth-century frescoes.  Among these, the most important is the grand composition depicting the Nemanjic Family Tree on the east wall of southeastern bay of the narthex.  Compositionally related to the Tree of Jesse, the dynastic tree of the Serbian ruling family is of particular interest insofar that it combines the idea of sainthood and holiness of its members with the idea of rulership and dynastic succession embodied in the person of the current king.  Exploiting the equation between earthly and the heavenly ruler, the Nemanjic family tree embodies some fundamental Byzantine ideas regarding the nature of rulership transposed in this context, into a distinctly Serbian phenomenon through the mechanism of the cult of ruler-saints.  Very characteristically, the Nemanjic Family Tree at Pec is juxtaposed with a holy water or baptismal font, made of the same type of local red-speckled stone as the sarcophagus of Archbishop Danilo II.  The relationship between Kingship and Baptism has been analyzed as a recurring theme in Serbian Medieval art.  The narthex at Pec preserves other arrangements that are of particular interest.  The most important is the so-called “Throne of St. Sava”,  a marble throne, situated left of the main portal of the church of the Holy Apostles.  Incorporated into a continuous bench that circumvents the interior of the narthex, this seat, clearly has a functional and symbolic significance.  The narthex, as in other known examples, was used for council meetings, presided over by the Archbishop, or later Patriarch.  The seat, strategically situated below the monumental painting depicting the Ancient of Days, is symbolically given the source of authority by the placing of the standing figure of the first Serbian Archbishop Sava I, directly above the throne.  

A particularly important aspect of the complex of the churches at Pec, including the great narthex, involved an elaborate painted decoration of their exteriors.  Large sections of the original painted decoration still survive, providing invaluable insights into the original appearance of this complex of buildings, but also in the aesthetic principles employed by the builders of this period. . Especially relevant is the appearance of certain decorative elements that anticipate their later forms executed in stone.

2.
The Church of Bogorodica Ljeviska (Mother of God Ljeviska) in Prizren

Relatively little is known about medieval Prizren (Byzantine Prisdriana) and most of the information is based on written sources.  The lower part of the town was focused on a large market area, surrounded by various facilities related to the commercial activities that took place there.  Four major fairs are known to have taken place annually within this business district.  Residential quarters of the city were situated predominantly on the slopes of the hill rising to the south of the town.  The city is known to have had royal palaces, mentioned in the fourteenth-century sources.  No traces of these have been preserved.  Medieval structures that have survived in Prizren are exclusively churches, all of which were deliberately targeted during the March 2004 outpouring of violence staged by the Albanian nationalists.   Pride of place among the Serbian medieval churches in Prizren belongs to the Bogorodica Ljeviska (Mother of God Ljeviska), itself severely damaged in March 2004, and again in November 2005.
  Built on the remains of two older churches, the present building incorporates substantial portions of its immediate predecessor, a thirteenth-century basilica.  The new church is a unique building in several different ways.  Above all, it is the only Serbian medieval cathedral church that has survived in an urban setting.  Turned into a mosque only in the eighteenth century, the church has also preserved its medieval belfry, the only such a feature that has survived in any city under Ottoman control. Constructed between 1306-9, this is the first of the three surviving five-domed churches commissioned by King Milutin.  The construction of the church was entrusted to a team of unknown builders from Epiros.  It is logical that Prizren, located on a major road that linked the interior of the Balkans with the Adriatic Litoral, should have been exposed to the influx of artisans from those parts, as opposed to Skopje, where links were maintained with the Aegean Littoral and, above all, with Thessaloniki.  Bogorodica Ljeviska has an elongated plan inherited from the eleventh-century basilica and its thirteenth-century successor on the same site.  The basilican form of the building was completely negated in the superstructure of the new building, where the five-domed cross-in-square scheme was employed.  The five-domed church scheme was known in the Epirote context, as exemplified by the great church of Parigoritissa at Arta.  The disposition of the domes, their character and scale, as well as the overall proportions of the building could not have been more different, however.  The composition of the east façade of the church, the building technique and various details reveal unmistakably an Epirote master builder of the highest quality.  Particularly revealing is his use of specially cut tiles and ceramic tubular elements for producing decorative effects on the facades.  The tympanum on the south side of the church reveals another curiosity – its arch is pointed, in contrast to all other arches on this building and in contrast to the general form of arches in Byzantine architecture.  The phenomenon has been noted, but it appears to be far more complex than an idea promoted in older scholarship that attempted to link this feature to “Gothic” influence.. The church is also characterized by the presence of monumental inscriptions on its east façade, in this case cut into special tiles made for this purpose.  The inscriptions, in Old Church Slavonic, are of major historical significance, mentioning the patron, King Milutin, his dynastic lineage, as well as his father-in-law, Byzantine emperor, Andronikos II.  Moreover, mention is made of two successive bishops of Prizren, Damjan and Sava.  The final architectural aspect of this important church that deserves mention is its exonarthex forming its west façade dominated by a tall, axially placed belfry.  The open arcaded floor of the exonarthex – subsequently enclosed, as was also the case at Pec – was clearly related to some sort of an urban space in front of the church of which nothing survives.  By virtue of its unique survival the church of Bogorodica Ljeviska allows us to contemplate the urban character of other fourteenth-century Serbian urban cathedral churches none of which survive. 

Converted into a mosque in the eighteenth century, the church was slightly modified internally.  One of its piers on the south side was removed and was replaced by a large arch that supported the superstructure.  The arch facilitated the installation of a mihrab orientated toward Mecca.  The interior was completely plastered over and whitewashed.  The church belfry was allowed to stand; its dome was perforated and a small minaret was added at that point, adapting it for its new function.  In 1923, when the building was re-converted into a church, the minaret was removed, and the belfry returned to its original function.  The church of Bogorodica Ljeviska underwent extensive conservation only during the 1950s.  At the time, large areas of frescoes were discovered in its interior.  The majority of what was preserved belonged to the rebuilding of the church under the auspices of King Milutin.  In addition, several compositions in good condition, belonging to the thirteenth-century church were also uncovered at the time.  One of these frescoes, depicting the Mother of God with Christ Child “the Provider” (Krmitelj), became the victim of wanton destruction during the riots by the Albanian nationalists in March of 2004.  

The fourteenth century frescoes of Bogorodica Ljeviska are of great importance for the study of Serbian and also of Byzantine painting of the fourteenth century.  It is here, one could suggest, that the first evidence of Serbia’s taking over the role of leadership in the arts from Byzantium may be clearly observed.  Despite the fact that their surfaces were damaged by hammer blows whose function was to facilitate the adherence of a new coat of plaster, and that only approximately half of the originally painted surfaces have survived, they have been preserved in sufficiently good shape to facilitate an understanding of their style as well as of the general iconographic program.  Both categories reveal artists of the highest caliber.  One of them signed his name as Astrapa, indicating that he came from a prominent Thessalonikan Astrpas family of painters.  He may have been one Michael Astrapas, whose name appears in other churches decorated under the auspices of King Milutin.  Michael is also known to have worked jointly on a number of occasions with another painter of distinction by the name of Eutychios.  

The main dome of the church features the bust of the Pantokrator in its apex.  Surrounded by a resplendent burst of Divine Light, depicted in the form of an eight-pointed mandorla, this fresco reveals the input of Late Byzantine theology in which the so-called Hesychast movement played a significant role.  This arrangement at Bogorodica Ljeviska is one of the earliest attempts to introduce the new theological concepts into art.  The scenes of the Great Feasts predominate, as was common, on the vaults of the central part of the church.  The main apse is dominated by the image of the Theotokos in the conch of which only the lower part of the body is preserved.  Below the Theotokos, as was common in Byzantine church programs, appear the Communion of the Apostles and the Liturgy of the Church Fathers.  The latter composition extends to the lateral walls of the deep sanctuary, where the final two figures in the procession appear on the upper level, in the same zone as the Communion of the Apostles.  The badly damaged Ascension was originally in the blind dome above the western part of the bema.  Nothing of the central part of the scene in the blind dome survives; only some of the standing apostles in the tympana of the side walls have been preserved. 
The lateral longitudinal spaces in the building are given over to other scenes, among which special cycles dedicated to St. Nicholas (whose chapel was in the southeast corner of the church), to the Oecumenical Councils, and to the Theotokos are of particular interest.  The narthex of the church was given over almost entirely to a gallery of the members of the ruling Nemanjic Dynasty.  The west wall was dominated by the portrait of the dynastic founder, and the first Serbian Saint – Stefan Nemanja – St. Simeon – depicted as a monk directly above the main portal.  He was flanked by his two sons – St. Sava, the first Serbian Archbishop, to his right, and Stefan Prvovencani (“the First-Crowned”), the first Serbian king, to his left.  These historical portraits of major significance have suffered extensive damage in the burning of the church during the March 2004 riots.  Other portraits in the narthex include that of King Milutin in Byzantine imperial attire, originally juxtaposed with the portrait of his father, King Uros I, of whom only the inscription has been preserved.  The emphasis placed on the dynastic lineage is one of the hallmarks of churches built and decorated under the auspices of King Milutin.  

The exonarthex, evidently the last part of the church to have been painted features some of the most impressive compositions depicted on its cross vaults.  Among these, the dominant ones are the Baptism of Christ and the Last Judgment.  Equally impressive is the inclusion of Old Testament prophets, ancient philosophers and sibyls, in various ways linked with the glorification of the Theotokos to whom the church is dedicated and whose monumental image appears above the main portal.  The space of the exonarthex contains also an unusual written document.  Spelled out on one of its walls is the text of the actual contract made with the master builder and the master painter of the church, giving numerous interesting details, in addition to their names.  This is a rare case of such a document to have been preserved and is, therefore, of major historical significance.  

The architecture and the frescoes of Bogorodica Ljeviska illustrate in unequivocal terms that the leadership in matters of artistic patronage in the Balkans was passing from the hands of the Byzantine emperor into the hands of the Serbian king.  From ca. 1310 on, the best Byzantine builders and painters were working under the auspices of King Milutin on the territory of Serbia.  While Byzantine church construction gradually declined during the first decades of the fourteenth century, coming to a virtual halt ca. 1320, architectural activity in Serbia was on the rise during the very same period of time.  

3.
The Church of the Dormition at Gracanica Monastery

Unquestionably the crowning achievement in the context of King Milutin’s architectural patronage was the Church of the Annunciation (subsequently Dormition) at Gracanica Monastery (hereafter “Gracanica” will refer to the monastery church alone).  This extraordinary building was built as the katholikon of an important monastery and as the seat of the Bishopric of Lipljan, all medieval traces of which have disappeared.  The church itself, remarkably well preserved, remains shrouded by a veil of mystery as far as the actual date of its construction, as well as the names and the origins of its builders and painters are concerned.  The only reasonably secure date is related to its monastic charter, a copy of which in fresco technique bearing the date of 1321, is preserved on the west wall of its southeast chapel.  

Gracanica constitutes the epitome not only of Serbian architecture of this period, but of Late Byzantine church architecture generally speaking. In it are embodied the most sophisticated aspects of contemporary church planning, combined with the finesse of formal design and mastery of execution.  Measuring ca. 13 x 16.5m in plan, Gracanica reveals proportions very different from Bogorodica Ljeviska, despite the fact that it, too, is a five-domed building.  Also built on the foundations of two older churches, Gracanica acknowledged only the locus of the original altar table, but made no use of any other pre-existing elements of its two predecessors.  Consequently, Gracanica displays an ‘ideal’ design, a planning scheme free of any practical constraints and developed in accordance with the current design experiments, most notably those employed in Thessalonikan churches of H. Aikaterini and the Holy Apostles. The core of Gracanica, as in the Thessalonikan churches, constitutes a cross-in-square unit.  Unlike in Thessalonikan examples, this core is enveloped by functionally distinct elements – the inner narthex, the sanctuary, the eastern lateral chapels, and the ‘ambulatory’ passages – all of which were rigorously integrated into a unified volume that gives the building its imposing sense of formal unity, symmetry and monumentality. The architecture of Gracanica is characterized by yet another formal achievement.  Its five domes are displayed to the full advantage, so that individual form of each of the five domes assumes a balanced, highly visible role in the overall composition.  To achieve this the architect was compelled to elevate various parts of the building to unprecedented heights, insuring their external visibility in the process.  As a result of these formal considerations in dealing with the building exterior, the interior proportions were correspondingly subjected to daring transformations.  This is best reflected in the increase of the number of horizontal zones of painted scenes on the interior walls – from the standard three in the Middle Byzantine period seven here.  Although Palaeologan fresco programs are generally characterized by the reduction of sizes of individual scenes and by their multiplication in numbers, the question of relationship between the needs related to fresco programs and the character of architecture in general, have not yet been adequately explored.  Regardless of general conclusions that may eventually be reached, Gracanica is distinguished by the extraordinary attenuation of its proportions.  The proportions of the space under its main dome reveal an unprecedented ratio of 1:6.12, in contrast to 1:4.2 at Bogorodica Ljeviska.  The input of new programmatic needs in fresco painting, therefore, could not have been the sole factor in affecting such an emphasis on the building height.  

In addition to its height the exterior of Gracanica is marked also by other unusual aspects.  Its walls are built in cloisonné technique that reveals restraint and conservatism, compared to other contemporaneous buildings, especially to Bogorodica Ljeviska.  There can be no doubt that the master builder of Gracanica had a very different training and background than the builder of the Prizren cathedral.  The domes of Gracanica bespeak links with contemporary architecture of Thessaloniki, though the rest of its construction does not easily support such a notion.  Its builder, judging by the sophistication of the building design, must have had considerable previous experience, yet it is very difficult to determine where he, or possibly ‘they’, may have come from.  A lesson that must be born in mind is that, although a large number of buildings from this period survive, not all of them actually do, and the reconstruction of the total picture that we would wish to have becomes at once more tempting, as well as more frustrating.  Gracanica was the last building achievement of King Milutin, as his donor-portrait and the date on the monastic charter preserved in the church indicate.  

Frescoes of Gracanica survive in relatively good condition.  Located outside an urban area, it was never converted into a mosque, and therefore, its interior was never plastered over, as was the case in Bogorodica Ljeviska.  Notwithstanding some water damage resulting in the loss of frescoes in certain areas, the sense of its interior decoration is almost complete.  Owing to its extraordinary height and the complexity of its interior space, Gracanica did not feature a conventional program of interior decoration commonly employed in most church interiors.  Key parts of such a program are recognizable in the main parts of the building. But they were supplemented by scores of other scenes and images seldom if ever employed elsewhere.  Along with the even more complex interior of Decani, Gracanica constitutes a veritable encyclopedia of Late Byzantine painting.  The nodal points of the interior decoration were maintained; they are the main dome, the vaults immediately associated with it, and the main apse.  Here we find standard images depicted in the usual places.  A bust of Christ the Pantokrator dominates the apex of the dome.  He is surrounded not by the usual retinue of angels, but by angels involved in the Heavenly Liturgy, depicted here as an ‘event’ around the base of the dome.  This ‘elaboration’ is one of the innovations characteristic of Late Byzantine painting in general, based in all likelihood, on new developments in theological thought and liturgical practice.  The dome is raised on a drum whose interior wall surfaces are decorated with eight Old Testament Prophets.  The drum, in turn, rests on four pendentives also conventionally decorated witht the representations of the four Evangelist.  The second major focus of Gracanica’s fresco program is in its main apse.  Dominated by the image of the standing Theotokos, depicted in the orans position within the apse conch, she is adored by Archangels Michael and Gabriel.  Below this is the zone in which the Communion of the Apostles is depicted in a conventional manner, as two almost symmetrical halves.  A zone depicting busts of saints is situated as a band, directly below the Communion of the Apostles and above the monumental representation of the Liturgy of the Church Fathers.  This composition spreads across the side walls of the sanctuary, while the apse itself contains only St. Basil the Great and St. John Chrysostom, shown officiating over an altar table directly below the apse window.  

While most of the compositions are of a relative modest size, three of them, strategically placed, are very large and were clearly intended to be dominant.  The three are: the Anastasis, the Dormition, and the Last Judgement.  The Anastasis is the highest placed of the three. Situated on the east wall, above the high arch separating the naos from the sanctuary, this is a triumphal image par excellence.  Celebrating Christ’s triumph over Death, it is deliberately placed above the sanctuary where His death and resurrection are routinely re-enacted in liturgical services.  Facing east, the direction of His Second Coming, this fresco underscores the central theme of Orthodox Christianity.  Directly opposite it, but on a lower level, is the monumental scene depicting the Dormition of the Virgin.  Nearly twice as large in area as the Anastasis, the Dormition, is a highly elaborate composition, introducing not only all of the details of the central theme, but also related episodes, chronologically sequenced from left to right.  Situated above the low arch linking the naos with the narthex, the scene would be perceived as the reminder of the termination of earthly life with the promise of eternal salvation.  This message is underscored even more emphatically on the west wall of the inner narthex where the largest of all of the compositions in the church – the Last Judgment – is situated.  Practically at the eye level, the Last Judgment, was undoubtedly intended to have the greatest didactic impact.  Stretching the full width of the building and into the western half of the vaulting above, this frescoes brings the beholder into the most intimate relationship with the subject matter.  Of the greatest relevance in this context are the representations of Paradise, on the south side and of the Hell on the north half of the of the lowest part of the composition.  Paradise is depicted as a fortified garden whose gate is guarded by a fiery Cherubim with a drawn sword in his right hand, while St. Peter, keys in his hand, is depicted bringing a crowd of the saved souls to the gate.  The opposite side is given over to the depiction of Hell, one of the most terrifying renditions of this subject in all of Byzantine art.  The torrent of fire races from the central upper part of the composition, where the enthroned Judge is seated. Toward the north side of the composition, where it is shown coming down as a mighty waterfall, disappearing on the far right of the composition where its dimensions are the largest.  Within this blazing torrent, as well as in the equally threatening sea to its left, are depicted, with shocking realism, innumerable creatures belonging to the known world, as well as those that belong to the realm of fantasy.  Drawn from various sources, including without a doubt representations ancient mythological creatures, personifications, etc., the assortment has a powerful visual effect occurring as it does on the eye-level of the beholder.  To make the effect even more dramatic, the artist ‘broke’ through the rendition of the marble veneer that decorates the dado zone around the church, directly below the farthest end of the scene of the Hell, as though to provide a glimpse of what actually may be happening, ‘down below”.  Here the ‘torture chamber’ depicting an assortment of sinners, from cheating merchants and husbands, to prostitutes and thieves are shown being perpetually punished for their misdeeds.  The central cross-vault of the narthex is dominated by the representation of a monumental right hand of God, holding the souls of the righteous depicted as infants in their swaddling clothes.  The oldest known representation of this motif in Late Byzantine art, this is the summation of the idea of the Last Judgment, whose final component, the bust of the Supreme Judge with an open Book in hand occurs on the east wall, directly above a low, but wide archway that leads from the narthex into the naos.  

This wide arch, the point of entry into the naos, was strategically chosen for another composition of utmost importance in the context of Gracanica.  Here, on the sidewalls of the short passageway, are depicted the full-figure portraits of the royal couple.  On the right side is the portrait of King Milutin in full royal regalia, the patron of the church shown with its model in his hands.  The king is depicted as a very old man, corresponding to the known fact that he died shortly afterwards.  Directly opposite the king, is depicted Queen Simonida, also shown in full royal regalia.  She is described in the inscription as the queen, but also as the daughter of the Byzantine Emperor Andronikos II Palaiologos.  Above the royal couple on the underside of the broad arch is depicted a bust of Christ within a rhomboid-shaped mandorla surrounded by four seraphim.  His arms outstretched, He is shown blessing, while two angels, each carrying a royal crown are shown flying downward delivering the crowns to the royal couple.  This is a clear example of appropriation of the Byzantine iconographic formula for depicting the Imperial coronation.  The general iconographic framework is further reinforced by the Byzantine imperial attire of the couple, as well as by the fact that they are both shown standing on purple cushions featuring double-headed eagles. 

Yet another important composition within the inner narthex deserves particular attention – the so-called Nemanjic Family Tree.  It appears in Gracanica on the south half of the east wall of the inner narthex and directly opposite from the representation of Paradise in the Last Judgement composition.  The Nemanjic Family Tree, depicted for the first time here, in Gracanica, was based on the iconographic formula of the Tree of Jesse, illustrating Christ’s earthly lineage through Virgin Mary.  The association with the Tree of Jesse was not accidental.  The main aims were to demonstrate the fact that the Nemanjic family was both royal and saintly (having included several saints by this time), and to illustrate the ruling monarch, at the apex, as the ultimate product of the ‘sacred tree’ grown from the ‘root’ of Nemanja, the dynastic founder.  

In addition to the Great Feasts that appear on uppermost vaults and walls, the interior of the church is filled with innumerable compositions, individual images, busts of saints, etc.  Especially notable here is the appearance of the Menologion, with almost fully illustrated months of September and October.  Selection of other scenes, from the Old Testament, the classical mythological repertoire, etc., point to a highly learned individual as having been responsible for the selection of individual scenes and the composition of the program as a whole.  The individual in question may have been Bishop Ignjatije (Ignatios), mentioned several times in the monastery Charter.  Along with the main patron of the church, King Milutin, he must have been the decisive factor in the creation of Gracanica.  While there is no doubt as to Gracanica’’s function as the seat of the Bishop of Lipljan, there are several unresolved issues as to the intentions of various features within the building itself.  Thus, the question for whom the three arcosolia in the outer walls of the church were originally intended still lingers.  They were built integrally with the church, but only one, in the southeastern lateral chapel, was used somewhat later for the tomb of a Bishop Todor.  The possibility of the arcosolium in the south ambulatory of the church having been planned for the King has been a subject of debate.  King Milutin’s ultimate intentions in connection with Gracanica are both revealing and, at the same time, blurred.  Thus, for example, he is depicted as a monk in a composition, paired with his mother Jelena, depicted as a nun, on the north side of the east wall of the inner narthex.  We know that King Milutin never actually became a monk, but this fresco leaves the possibility that he had such intentions.  Other features of Gracanica’s interior seem to support such a notion.  Directly above the low arch between the inner narthex and the naos is a small room, generally unnoticeable from the interior of the church.  The room is made accessible via a narrow steep staircase within the masonry in the southwestern cluster of piers carrying the superstructure.  This room has two windows – one opens to the exterior on the west façade of the church; the other opens internally overlooking the western part of the naos.  Seen from the naos interior, the latter window is integrated into the composition depicting the Dormition of the Virgin, relating to the painted “Heavenly Gates” in the composition directly with the actual window opening.  The key as to the function of the room behind this window is found on its tympanum.  Here we find the monograms of King Milutin, suggesting that the space behind this window may have had some intended direct associations with him.  The room, too small and too inaccessible for any type of ceremonial use, appears to have been intended as a monastic cell, a place of ultimate withdrawal, within which a ‘holy man’ might spend his final years in total seclusion, but within the ‘heavenly’ realm of the church.  This may have been the intended place of withdrawal for King Milutin.  The custom of leaving the throne and withdrawing into monastic solitude was known both in Byzantine and in earlier Serbian practice.  Such a scheme, though left unimplemented may well have been on King Milutin’s mind.  

Gracanica, on account of its exceptional aesthetic values, both as a work of architecture and as a gallery of extraordinary paintings, holds a top place in all of Byzantine art.  Moreover, because of its numerous theological and ideological subtleties, Gracanica is of exceptional importance for the history of the Serbian people.  More than any other monument of the era of King Milutin, Gracanica reveals the complexities of his reign during which Serbia consciously underwent a process of ‘Byzantinization’, her king becoming – not only in appearance – but in fact, the equal of the Byzantine emperor.  Gracanica’s architecture and art bespeak this new reality in no uncertain terms.

4.
The Church of Pantokrator at Decani Monastery

King Stefan Decanski and his son and successor Stefan Dusan were jointly engaged in a major monastic project – the building of the Monastery of Decani. Based on an oval plan, only fragments of the original monastery enclosure are preserved – the main gate within the lowest level of a monastic tower, and the foundations of a monastic refectory, substantially rebuilt in modern times.  Within the he monastery enclosure stands the largest and one of the most impressive of all Serbian royal mausoleum-churches,  Dedicated to Christ Pantokrator, the exceptionally well preserved main church of Decani is one of the masterpieces not only of Serbian, but of medieval architecture, generally speaking. Built between 1327 and 1335, the church was begun under Stefan Decanski, but was finished by his son, Stefan Dusan.  Compared to Gracanica, completed only six years earlier, the katholikon of Decani seems to belong to another world, far removed in time and space.  The explanation lies in the fact that in the case of Decani, the actual building was entrusted to one Vita (Vitus), a Franciscan friar from Kotor.  This particular piece of information provides important clues about mechanisms of transmission of ideas, techniques and other aspects of architecture from one cultural sphere into another.  For Serbia, its links with the coast, notably with Dubrovnik, Kotor and other important centers, were of vital importance for periodic ‘revivals’ of western architectural tradition that actually never fully ended in Serbia, despite the fact that it was substantially superseded by the Byzantine tradition after 1300.  The second important observation gleaned from our knowledge about Fra Vita, is the fact that personal religious affiliation never stood in the way of employing individuals of great professional merit.  Thus a Serbian Orthodox King, in this case, employed a Catholic priest to build for him an Orthodox church.   This gives us a unique opportunity to observe the lines of division between matters pertaining to the functional requirements and those aspects that had to do strictly with the aesthetics of a church building, where exactly these lines were drawn, and who exactly was in the position to make what decision. 

The katholikon of Decani, is a large building, measuring ca. 22 x 33m in plan.  Its plan adopts a new, more open approach to church planning in contrast to the thirteenth-century standards.  The lateral chapels flanking the western part of the church, an idiosyncratic feature of thirteenth-century Serbian royal foundations, were eliminated, in all likelihood, as a result of a church reform introduced in 1319 by the Serbian Archbishop Nikodim. Instead, the church has a vast narthex that appears to have absorbed some of the functions previously accommodated within such lateral chapels.  The vast space of the naos is also ingeniously fused with the subsidiary chapels, that of St. Demetrius on the north, and that of St. Nicholas, on the south side. Functionally, the space of the naos is delineated by means of tall parapet slabs that enclose the central cruciform area to accommodate the ‘monastic choirs’ within the ‘arms of the cross’, in this case made visible only by virtue of the parapet enclosures at the ground level.  The dome is carried on tall, massive piers that define the core of the naos.  The lack of walls, conventionally defining this central space in a Byzantine church, reflects the application of a structural system that betrays Romanesque and Gothic thinking. The use of tall octagonal columns that carry cross-ribbed vaults signals complete parting of ways with Byzantine structural thought.  The impact of this, western structural system on the articulation and the accommodation of the fresco program was considerable and has been commented on from that point of view by Radojcic.  The dome, though resting on a tall drum, typical of contemporary Byzantine architecture, in terms of its exterior articulation also reveals the impact of Romanesque and Gothic aesthetic principles.  Another aspect of the aesthetics of Decani involves the extensive use of sculpture on the exterior, but also in the interior.  Though more correctly defined as Romanesque in terms of its style, the sculptural decoration of Decani reveals a basic adherence to Orthodox theological thought. The lessons of Decani are innumerable, but one that stands out is the carefully articulated willingness to accept the ‘foreign’ input.  While aspects of style and aesthetics, more generally speaking, reveal a degree of flexibility, the content, in other words the iconography of sculpture and painting, demonstrate a strict adherence to the Orthodox theological thought.  The same, of course, may be said of the layout of the church interior.  Though contained in a shell that has no parallels in the Orthodox world, all of the essential functional arrangements of an Orthodox church are evident on the ground level of the Decani katholikon.  

The church was built as the mausoleum church for King Stefan Decanski who was interred in it along with his wife; their tombs marked with cenotaphs in the form of sarcophagi still preserved.  The king was sainted several years after his death and, accordingly, his body was exhumed and placed in an elevated, specially decorated wooden coffin placed directly in front of the iconostasis.  The church contains tombs of other individuals as well, and preserves practically all pieces of the original church furniture, including its marble iconostasis, its giant bronze choros (a ring for lights suspended from the base of the dome), as well as a marble holy water font in the narthex. In this regard, the katholikon of Decani is unique not only in the Serbian context, but also within the wider Byzantine sphere where few interior furnishings dating from the fourteenth century have survived to such and extent and are in a comparable state of preservation.  Of particular interests are also two seats – that of the king and that of the hegumenos, situated respectively against the east faces of the southwest and northwest main piers carrying the dome.  The royal throne is made of white marble; that of the hegumenos is of wood.  The royal throne is given a distinctive setting by virtue of the frescoes depicted in direct relationship to its position.  Thus, on the wall directly opposite it is a giant image of Christ Pantokrator (to whom the church is dedicated), and surrounding him are two smaller figures of the Virgin and St. John the Baptist, thus forming a Deesis composition.  Thus, the king, while seated on his throne, would have been facing the Heavenly Ruler and the supreme judge.  Immediately to the right of the throne is the image of St. Symeon, the first Serbian saint and the founder of the Serbian ruling Nemanjic dynasty, depicted as a monk.  Thus, the juxtaposition of the current ruler with the dynastic ‘root’, Stefan Nemanja – Monk Symeon, in an abridged form, echoes the theme stressed in the Nemanjic Family tree in the narthex of the church (see below).  

The vast interior of the church is filled with frescoes covering all available interior surfaces in keeping with the Byzantine tradition of interior church decoration.  Links with the Byzantine tradition in the case of Decani have long been under scrutiny of scholars, many of them, especially the pioneers among them, finding that Decani frescoes had strong, direct roots in the western painting tradition of Italy, and presumably reaching Serbia, via the Dalmatian coast.  Here, the role of Kotor was especially emphasized, presumably because of the documented presence of the western builder of the church, Master Vita, who himself was from Kotor.  More recent scholarship has been inclined to modify the sweeping conclusions of the earlier generation, and has sought to recognize also the links of Decani frescoes with the Byzantine tradition.  The sheer volume of the material, the overwhelming number of individual compositions and figures has generally induced a selective approached both to themes and individual scenes that have tended to be analyzed out of context.  Recent scholarship has endeavored to overcome the limitations of this kind o approach.

Frescoes of the Decani Katholikon are grouped in multiple cycles, a phenomenon that of itself constitutes a major departure from earlier Byzantine practice.  The naos, as the largest building volume, in its own right contains as many as eighteen cycles of frescoes, each cycle containing three to four, to as many as forty-six individual scenes.  The central cycle, as in any Byzantine church, is the Feast Cycle, situated here in the central domed bay with the sole exception of the scene of the Dormition, located on the west wall.  Other cycles include: Christ’s Ministry (with eighteen scenes), Christ’s Passion (forty-three scenes), Christ’s Miracles (twenty-two scenes), Christ’s Parables (thirteen scenes), Life of the Virgin (fourteen scenes), Acts of the Apostles (twenty-one scenes), The Akathistos of the Virgin, The Genesis (forty-six scenes),  Wisdom of Solomon (four scenes), Daniel (three scenes), Old Testament scenes (four), Tree of Jesse, Last Judgment (twenty-six scenes), Liturgical cycle (Communion of the Apostles, Amnos, Heavenly Liturgy), Sermons of St. John the Baptist (five scenes), Cycle of St. Nicholas (seventeen scenes) and Cycle of St. Demetrius (twelve scenes).  The lowest zone in the naos and in the lateral chapels includes standing figures of saints (predominantly monastic saints and martyrs), members of the Nemanjic dynasty, and the Serbian clergy.  

The narthex is treated as a basilican structure, its ‘nave’ being slightly higher than the ‘side aisles’.  The three cross-vaulted bays of the ‘nave’ are covered with representations of the Ecumenical Councils.  The cross vault of the northeastern bay accommodates the Cycle of St. George (six scenes), while the remainder of the vaulting and most of the upper parts of the enclosing walls is given over to the Church Calendar (Menologion).  The lower sections of the lateral walls accommodate the standing figures of monastic saints, members of the Serbian royal dynasty and high-ranking members of the Serbian Church.  Three large scenes dominate the eastern wall of the narthex.  By virtue of their size and unique iconography, these deserve particular notice.  The scene depicting Liturgy of St. Basil and St. John Chrysostomos occupies the lower section of the northern part of the wall (Fig.   ).  The two Church Fathers are shown officiating over an altar table upon which is laid out the body of adult Christ.  This rare iconographic formula appears to conflate the image of the Epitaphios with the more usual formula of the Amnos.  The presence of this scene signals a liturgical function of the space within which it is located.  Although the space is not enclosed, it is clear that it functioned as a memorial chapel for one Djurdje (George) Ostousa Pecpal, a nobleman, later monk Ephrem.  The floor of this northeast corner bay of the narthex contains floor tombs of Djuradj Ostousa Pecpal and his wife Vitoslava.  On the north wall of the space is the scene depicting the donor being presented to Christ by St. George (the donor’s namesake), while on the vaults and upper parts of the space are scenes from the Life of St. George.  On the opposite side, the south part of the east wall of the narthex is filled with a monumental rendition of the Nemanjic Dynastic Tree (Fig.   ).  Its iconography borrowed from the Tree of Jesse, in this case situated on the opposite side of the very same wall, The Nemanjic Dynastic Tree emphasizes the saintly character of the Serbian ruling family.  Stemming from the ‘root’ of Stefan Nemanja, the founder of the Serbian royal dynasty and, at the same time, the first Serbian saint (St. Symeon), the dynastic tree rises to its apex dominated by the image of the then Emperor of the Serbs and the Greeks, Stefan Dusan.  The young King is shown receiving the royal insignia from Christ depicted in the heavenly mandorla directly above the emperor’s head.  Two symmetrically disposed angels are flanking him and are depicted as the agents of Christ’s will, delivering the insignia to the king.  Clearly, the royal iconography in this case shows an advanced stage in the development of Serbian ruler ideology that peaked during the reign of Stefan Dusan, especially after his proclamation of the Serbo-Greek Empire in 1346.  Intervening between the two scenes just discussed, and situated above the main portal leading from the narthex into the naos, is the giant rendition of Christ Pantokrator, to whom the katholikon of Decani is dedicated (Fig.   ).  As depicted here, this is not the conventional rendition of a patron saint, usually portrayed in a niche above the door through which one enters into a church.  The image, in this case, is on the wall above the portal, filling its entire width within this bay.  Below this giant image of Christ are depicted Kings Stefan Decanski and Dusan in their role as patrons of the church.  They are shown bowing before Christ, while a cherubim depicted between them is handing each a scroll.  The exact meaning of this representation has long been debated, but it is now generally accepted that the two rulers are shown as the recipients of God’s will.  “I am the door; if any one enters by me, he will be saved, and will go in and out and find pasture” (John, 10,9) reads the text on the open book held by Christ, explaining his role as the divine protector, but also as the one who points the way to the Heavenly Kingdom and eternal salvation.  The royal father and son are here interwoven into a complex symbolic message relating to the reception of Divine wisdom that involves also God the Father and Christ, as well as the Old Testament Prophets and kings – David and Solomon.  

The final remarkable aspect of the Decani katholikon is the extensive use of sculpture, both on the exterior as well as inside the building.  Use of sculpture, though known in Byzantine church architecture, was never so extensive, nor so carefully planned as seen Decani.  Concentrated around the building’s portals and windows, the sculptural decoration of Decani is more in tune, both stylistically and iconographically, with the Romanesque tradition.  Its sculptors, in all likelihood, were members of the team of artisans that the master builder, Vita (Vitus) must have brought with him from Kotor.  As in the case of Banjska (see below), the prototype for Decani was the church of the Mother of God at Studenica, commissioned by the Nemanjic dynastic founder, Stefan Nemanja, in the ninth decade of the twelfth century.  Nowhere is the relationship between Decani and Studenica more readily apparent than in the design and execution of the large triple windows of their main apses.  The window at Decani consists of three openings separated by slender octagonal colonnettes-mullions with capitals in the form of animals – a lion and a gryphon (Fig.    ).  Above these rises a tympanum, whose formal composition is symmetrical, but whose iconographic content is not, for it contains representations of a winged dragon devouring an upside-down human figure and a basilisk with a long serpent tail.  The iconographic asymmetry is extend into the sculpted jambs and the archivolt, with the lush scroll on the left (south) side being populated by human and animal figures, while the one on the opposite (north) side contains predominantly vegetal motifs.  Scholarly opinions are divided as to the meaning of this program.  The only thing that is beyond any doubt is that it repeats practically all motifs from the triple window in the apse of Studenica, made almost a century and-a-half earlier.  A presumed prophylactic function of the various creatures depicted around the most important window in the church, probably comes closest to answering the question of the meaning such representations in this location.  

Other sculptural groups related to the main portals and some of the windows are easier to decipher in terms of their meaning, though some variations of opinions exist in that context as well.  Thus, the main portal on the west façade displays an enthroned image of Christ, flanked by two angels; on of them praying, the other one blowing a trumpet (Fig.    ).  The depiction here – both iconographically and stylistically speaking -- is unmistakably western, but the function of this image, certainly related to the dedication of the church (Christ Pantokrator), must be behind the choice of this representation in this location.  Such a choice would have been entirely consistent with the Byzantine practice, despite obvious iconographic and stylistic deviations from the usually painted Byzantine prototypes.  Directly above the portal is the second largest window in the church a richly decorated triple window that shares several general characteristics with the window in the main apse (Fig.   ).  The tympanum of this window is filled with the scene depicting St. George subduing the dragon, with the freed royal princess, to the left, is shown holding a rope with which the dragon is about to be leashed.  The choice of this highly unusual iconographic theme in the context of Serbian medieval art has been linked with Stefan Decanski’s victory over the Bulgarian ruler Michael Shishman in 1330, at the very time of the monastery’s construction.  St. George, a favorite military saint, was already venerated by several members of the Nemanjic dynasty in similar military contexts in the past.  Two additional two-light windows appear on the west façade, framing the main portal (Figs.   and    ).  The two symmetrically juxtaposed pairs in the tympana of these windows – a pair of winged dragons, and a human pair in an embrace – have been interpreted as a “confrontation of evil forces” and a “meeting in peace”, respectively.  This reading has, furthermore, been related to the placement of the two windows on the side of the ’darkness” (north side), in contrast to the side of the “light” (south side).  The juxtaposition of the north-dark side and the south-light side, is also echoed in the character of the two lateral portals of the narthex.  The northern of the two displays the Cross of Life in its tympanum, in association with death and resurrection.  It is through this portal that dead monks are brought into the church for the funerary rites performed before their burial.  The portal on the opposite, south side, features the representation of Baptism of Christ.  This portal leads into the southern part of the narthex where a font in front of the Nemanjic Dynastic Tree, provides a dramatic setting for actual Baptismal rituals.  The south portal also contains a lengthy inscription on the lintel above the door, which reveals the identity of the church master builder, Franciscan friar Vita (Vitus).  Both of these portals, despite their Romanesque stylistic characteristics, reveal adherence to the functional needs of Eastern Orthodox monastic rituals.  Together with other sculptural decoration on the church, the entire phenomenon of reliance on a western style that, generally speaking, at first may appear to contradict certain Orthodox theological tenets.  In the final analysis, however, it illustrates the sophistication with which the ‘foreign’ style was adapted to suit the religious needs of an Orthodox monastic community under the auspices of rulers whose territories embraced different cultural realms, and therefore, artists and artisans with very different skills and artistic outlooks.  The general phenomenon is close in spirit to Russian church architecture in the region of Vladimir and Suzdal, where a similar meeting of Romanesque and Byzantine approaches first took place during the twelfth century.  Because the Serbian phenomenon has its own origins at Studenica, begun in 1183, the broader question of the meaning of such ‘non-conventional’ approaches needs to be examined both more closely and more broadly.

Major Foundations in Ruins

.
Bogorodica Hvostanka 

The Church of the Dormition of the Monastery of the Mother of God in Hvosno,  also known as Studenica Hvostanska, chronologically and architecturally is closely related to the church of the Ascension at Zica.  Situated ca 20km northeast of Pec, this major monastic complex is known only from the sources and the pitiful archaeological remains excavated in the late 1960s. Built on the remains of a fortified late antique settlement, the medieval monastery followed a pattern common in medieval Serbia. Mentioned in eleventh-century sources as an episcopal center, the monastery must have undergone a major reconstruction under the Serbian auspices during the first decades of the thirteenth century. Its new katholikon, as archaeology has clearly demonstrated, was built directly over the foundations of an Early Byzantine basilica. Begun ca. 1220, it is mentioned in sources as a seat of one of the new bishoprics established by Archbishop Sava I.  Much like the katholikon at Zica, it was built in two major phases.  The first phase saw the construction of a single-aisled, domed building, with characteristic 'transept' wings projecting from the north and south flanks of the square domed bay.  To the east, the church terminated in a single large apse, semicircular on its interior.  Unlike Serbian churches of this period, but recalling a practice common along the Adriatic littoral, the apse was contained externally within a large rectangular wall mass.  To the west, the naos was preceded by a two-bay vaulted narthex.  Measuring ca. 5.8m in width (ca. 8.8m, with the transept wings included) and ca. 17.5 in length, the church of the Dormition belonged to a category of medium-sized buildings.  Relatively well built, the church displays a regularity of plan, and a system of slender external pilaster strips that have been attributed to Romanesque builders, possibly from the Adriatic littoral.  During the second stage, possibly in the 1230s, the church was enlarged probably following the model of Zica Monastery.  The sanctuary was enlarged by the addition of two symmetrical rectangular chambers along its northern and southern flanks.  To the west the church was expanded by the addition of a large exonarthex, measuring ca. 9.5 x 7m.  This exonarthex presumably had an upper story.  At the same time, the church acquired two symmetrical chapels flanking the original inner narthex, but not communicating directly with it.  Because of their exceptionally thick walls, it has been assumed that above these chapels rose a pair of tall bell-towers, resembling such towers in Romanesque churches along the Adriatic Littoral, but also known from the churches of St. Nicholas at Kursumlija, and Djurdjevi Stupovi near Novi Pazar, both in Serbia, and St. Peter  at Bijelo Polje in Montenegro. In all respects, then, the church of the Dormition was representative of western architectural tradition as far as the style and the construction technique were concerned.  The general spatial disposition of its interior and, presumably its fresco decoration, of which nothing survives, were in all likelihood in keeping with the Byzantine standards.  In these respects the church of Bogorodica Hvostanska, must have been closely affiliated with its distinguished precedents – the church of the Mother of God at Studenica Monastery and the Church of the Ascension at Zica Monastery.  The appearance of western-looking church architecture in Serbia, alongside its Eastern Orthodox Church affiliation, has been long since noted as one of the idiosyncratic characteristics of Serbian medieval architecture.   


Banjska

The remains of the Monastery of Banjska, built in 1312-16, have emerged in recent decades as a result of painstaking excavations. Situated on a plateau of a small hill, the complex replaced an older monastic establishment itself built over much older, probably Roman remains.  The area is noted for its mineral water springs (hence the name “Banjska”; banja = spa) that may have been exploited already by the Romans.  The monastery was the foundation of King Milutin, who envisioned the monastery katholikon as his eventual mausoleum church.  Richly endowed, the monastery was issued a royal charter signed by the King, his mother, his brother Dragitin and Archbishop Sava III.  The charter provides several important insights into the making of the monastery, whose construction was entrusted to Danilo, the King’s trusted confidant and the Hegumenos of Hilandar Monastery, who left this post and returned to Serbia to supervise the materialization of the King’s wishes.  The wording of the document implies that Danilo, the future Serbian Archbishop, may have been in charge of the actual process of construction of the monastery.  Its layout has not been fully explored, but its form appears to have been roughly oval, therefore following the monastic planning practice in Serbia throughout the thirteenth century. The most detailed information available concerns the western end of the monastery, where the remains of a monumental gate, a large refectory, and of a nearby massive tower, have come to light.  The tower, measuring ca. 13 x 13m in plan, was comparable in size to the “Tower of King Milutin” near Hilandar Monastery on Mount Athos, from which it differs in the articulation of its corner buttressing.  The remains of the refectory indicate that it had marble furnishings and that its walls were decorated with mosaics, a technique virtually unknown in medieval Serbia.  By far the most impressive building in Banjska monastery was its katholikon, the Church of St. Stephen (Sv. Stefan), the patron saint of the Nemanjic Dynasty.  Sources tell us that the church was built “in the image of  Studenica”.   Though the similarity between the two churches is hardly close, the intent clearly was on the mode of building that, generally speaking, adhered to the thirteenth-century church planning, and to the western, Romanesque style of execution. This may seem somewhat surprising in the context of Serbia, Orthodox from the point of view of its religion, and culturally ‘byzantinized’ following King Milutin’ marriage to the daughter of Byzantine Emperor Andronikos II.  It appears that the western style of Banjska may have had strong political connotations and that it may have even been a concession forced on King Milutin by his pro-western internal adversaries led by his brother Dragutin and his mother, dowager queen Jelena, a French Catholic princess by origin. The style and quality of execution of the church of St. Stephen are strong indications that the craftsmen of different trades may have come to Banjska from Dubrovnik. Faced with finely cut stone blocks in three different colors, the church is unique in its application of polychromy.  Its interior derives from the single-aisled, domed church scheme, here expanded laterally by full-fledged transept wings.  Characteristically for earlier churches of this type the sanctuary is marked by a large apse, semicircular internally as well as externally. The naos was preceded by a large narthex flanked by two massive belfries.  This, in its own right, was an antiquated scheme, emulating earlier churches as was mentioned in conjunction with Bogorodica Hvostanska.  The church functioned as the royal mausoleum of King Milutin who was interred in it, along with the mother of the future king/emperor Dusan. Practically nothing of the tombs has survived.  The relics of the King, sainted a few years after his death, were removed from Banjska already in 1389 and eventually wound up in Sofia, Bulgaria, were they are still preserved.   The building has suffered repeatedly through history and in the process has lost all of its interior furnishings, frescoes, and its sculptural decoration.  Only fragments of the latter have been retrieved from excavations, or have been found re-used as building material in nearby village houses.  Converted into a mosque in the seventeenth century, the church underwent major modifications that involved also the construction of a new, blind dome in place of the original one that must have been elevated on a drum perforated with windows. 


Monastery of the Holy Archangels

At the height of his power, after 1343, King Stafan Dusan initiated the construction of his own mausoleum church within its own monastery.  Built near Prizren, one of the major urban centers of Seribia at the time, the Monastery of the Holy Archangels was an architectural and artistic achievement that was intended to match other crowning achievements of Dusan’s reign – the introduction of the new Law Code, the proclamation of the Serbian Patriarchate, and his own coronation as the “Emperor of the Serbs and the Greeks”.  By the time the Monastery of the Archangels was completed, in 1347, all Dusan’s other major ambitions had also been achieved.  As a concept, Dusan’s new monastery followed the established tradition in medieval Serbia that began with Stefan Nemanja at the end of the twelfth century.  As a ruling monarch he was establishing a place of his own eventual burial, but at the same time creating favorable conditions for his potential sainthood and a suitable pilgrimage center for the eventual celebration of his own cult.  The latter goals never materialized – Dusan was never made a saint and his monastery was in Ottoman hands only few decades after his death in 1355.  The ultimate destruction of the Church of the Archangels, in 1615, dealt the final blow to this extraordinary complex.  Thanks to the comprehensive archaeological excavations it was possible to retrieve much invaluable information and to rescue the great monastery – at least hypothetically speaking – from historical oblivion. 

Built on the left bank of the Bistrica River as it winds its way through a gorge approximately two kilometers east from Prizren, the Monastery of the Holy Archangels occupies a relatively flat, more-or-less triangular site Originally surrounded by walls and accessible only via a bridge through a guarded gateway, the monastery was also linked to a fortress on a steep hill overlooking the monastery, whose function was to protect it in times of trouble.  The central space in the monastery was occupied by the freestanding monastic katholikon – the Church of the Holy Archangels.  Slightly to the southeast of the main church was another, smaller church dedicated to St. Nicholas.  Directly opposite the west entrance of the katholikon stood a large, cruciform refectory. Other monastic buildings, including the monastic cells, the hospital, the kitchen and various other facilities were predominantly situated peripherally and attached to the outer walls of the complex.  

The Church of the Holy Archangels was a large building that in several ways deviated from the established tradition of Serbian royal mausoleum churches. Measuring ca. 17 x 33m in plan, the church was slightly smaller that the katholikon of Decani, but it differed from it completely in terms of its interior layout.  The naos of the church employed the elongated cross-in square scheme, familiar in Byzantine church architecture of the first half of the fourteenth century.  The church was preceded by a large open portico-narthex within which stood a large phiale, fragments of which have been retrieved. The main dome was supported by four massive piers each measuring ca. 1.5 x 1.5m in plan.  The archaeological excavations have also revealed that the church had a twelve-sided main dome that was internally scalloped, but also that there must have been at least one minor dome.  The indication of the existence of two dome types, led the excavator to conclude that the church was actually five-domed.  Though this possibility cannot be dismissed, it cannot be taken for granted either.  Nor can conclusions about the construction of the upper parts of the building be unequivocally reached.  The possibility that the dome drum may have consisted of alternating bands of brick and stone is also not out of the question, although the postulated reconstruction suggests that the building was entirely faced in stone.  Brick may also have been employed for vaulting and the dome shell, though these issues are better left without definitive answers.  All of this is of considerable relevance in determining the exact nature of this important, but unprecedented building.  On account of its exterior facing at least in its lower parts with exquisitely polished stone blocks and on account of the fact that the church featured extensive architectural sculpture of Romanesque and Gothic derivation, it has been generally accepted that the Church of the Holy Archangels, as was the case with the katholikon of Decani Monastery was a work of a builder from the Adriatic Littoral.  As such, together with other royal mausolea, the church was classified as a member of the so-called “Raska School”.  This classification introduces more problems than it solves, however.  The church, as we have already seen has a distinctly Byzantine disposition of its plan.  Its domes were internally scalloped, and that points to the probable impact of Constantinopolitan building standards.  The same could be said for its elaborately inlayed marble floor, whose design and technical features reveal strong affinities with Byzantine church floors, especially with that in the South Church of the Pantokrator Monastery in Constantinople.  Differences between the planning scheme, technique of wall construction and sculptural decoration, the forms of dome drums, and various other elements suggest that the building was a work of a team of builders with different backgrounds and building experiences. 

Novo Brdo -- Cathedral

The medieval town of Novo Brdo is renowned for its rich cultural profile and its ethnic diversity that we learn about from a wealth of different sources.  From the documents preserved in the Dubrovnik archives it is clear that the majority population was Serbian, but other minority groups lived there as well, among them Italians, Greeks, Albanians, Jews, as well as citizens of Dubrovnik and other cities from the Adriatic Littoral – Kotor, Bar, and Ulcinj. The actual urban area of the town has been explored only sporadically, though the position of a large number of buildings has been recorded on the basis of the visibility of their walls below rubble under which their remains lie buried.  Several churches have undergone somewhat closer scrutiny facilitating some general comments.  The most important church that has been investigated in some detail was the town’s Cathedral situated northeast of the citadel.  The building is highly unusual in several respects.  It was built in two very distinct phases, each of which is deserving of attention in its own right.  Its first phase saw the construction of a church, measuring ca. 11 x 17m in plan, whose layout recalls the somewhat smaller church of St. Demetrius at Markov Manastir with which it may well be contemporary. The church was also characterized by façades enlivened by a system of blind arcades, however, marked by triple skewbacks echoing the more conservative design approach.  While the layout and the conception of façade articulation may be comparable to the stylistically Byzantine architecture prevalent in Serbia at the time, its actual execution reveals masters more in tune with western building practice.  The building was built entirely of stone, using alternating layers of lighter and darker ashlars, resulting in a banded exterior effect.  Most important is that the building was externally decorated with low relief sculpture, closely related in character to architectural sculpture found in Serbia  after 1370.  Unfortunately, we do not know the exact date of construction of this very important building; we do not know even its dedication.  General consensus places the construction to ca. 1350.  At some later point in time, the east end of this church was demolished and a huge new extension was added beyond the limits of the original church which now effectively became a type of a narthex, the floor area of the building effectively tripled in size.  The new church is ca 20.5m wide and is ca 14.5m long, the total length of the new church reaching ca. 28.5m and making it a relatively large church by contemporary standards.  The addition consisted of a large rectangle articulated on the east side by three apses, round both inside and outside.  The interior space was subdivided into three aisle-like spaces by two massive square piers, measuring ca. 1.5 x 1.5 in plan.  The exact structural role of these piers is not clear.  The most remarkable aspect of this part of the church is that it contained many well-built and rock-cut tombs accommodated under the floor of the building whose covers functioned also as the church pavement.  The appearance of tombs in the main church as well as around it – a total of over 900 individual tombs was archaeologically recorded – is indicative both of the population size and of the fact that the church was of central importance for the community of Novo Brdo.  Also built of alternating courses of different colored ashlars, the addition shared this aspect with the original church, inasmuch as their architectural schemes otherwise seem to have had little in common.  The second-phase building reveals a strong western impact, not only by virtue of its building technique, but also by virtue of its architectural conception and the extensive accommodation of floor tombs throughout the building.  

Lesser Foundations 


Musutiste

The growth of Serbia and its economic prosperity during the first half of the fourteenth century saw the rise of a powerful landed aristocracy.  The patterns of patronage of this new wealthy class appear to have followed the Byzantine precedent.  One of the most remarkable and perhaps the very first church in this category was the Church of the Mother of God in the Village of Musutiste, Kosovo, Serbia (Fig. VIII-  ).  Built in 1314-15, by a local nobleman, Jovan Dragoslav, his wife Jelena, and their children Stanisa and Ana, this was a church whose plan, measuring ca. 8 x 11.5m, was essentially a replica the church of St. Nikitas at Cucer/Banjani, near Skopje, built by king Milutin a few years earlier.  The church had all the Byzantine and, more specifically, Thessalonikan characteristics of architecture.  Its walls were built in a manner typical of several churches of early fourteenth-century Thessaloniki, including the idiosyncratic decorative patterns and, above all, the unmistakably ‘Thessalonikan’ all-brick dome.  The historical importance of this small church was encapsulated in a lengthy inscription carved on a stone lintel above its main entrance.  This architectural and historical gem is now only part of historical memory – along with a number of other medieval monuments in Kosovo; it was deliberately blown up by Albanian nationalists in July 1999.


Prizren-Sv. Spas

The church of Bogorodica Ljeviska is significant for another reason.  During its construction that lasted several years, its master builder must have developed a workshop of sorts in which young apprentices acquired their training.  On the slopes of the hill above Bogorodica Ljeviska, stands the small church of Sv. Spas (Holy Savior), built in the 1320s or the 30s by a local man of means, whose wife and son, Mladen Vladojevic, are mentioned as the owners of the church in a document of 1348.  The small church, measuring ca. 4.5 x 9m in plan, shares many characteristics of Bogorodica Ljeviska, though the quality of its construction is inferior. Among other related features we find also the pointed form of the central archivolt on the lateral façade of the church, flaned by regular, round-headed arches.  Along with other similar cases, the church of Sv. Spas illuminates general mechanisms of dissemination of formal and technical aspects of architecture and helps us understand how specific “paradigms” became established in a certain area.  Prizren witnessed widespread construction of churches during the first half of the fourteenth century, most of them privately funded and quite small in size.  The ones that had survived included two churches dedicated to St. Nicholas (one founded by a Dragoslav Tutic and his wife; the other by someone named Ranko), St. George (a Runovic family foundation), St. Kyriaki (founded by Prince Marko} and St. Demetrius.  All of them were seriously damaged or destroyed during the March 2004 spree of Albanian nationalist violence.  The number of privately built churches, of which the list of ‘survivors’ is merely a statistical indicator, reflects the level of Prizren’s prosperity during the first half of the fourteenth century.  


Lipljan

The Church of the Presentation of the Virgin (Vavedenje) in the village of Lipljan, 15 kilometers southwest of Pristina, is another small church commissioned, in all likelihood, by a local nobleman.  Unfortunately, in this case no documentation has survived.  Our only chronological indicator is a document that records the fact that it was given as a gift to the tower (pirg) of Hilandar Monastery on Mount Athos by the Serbian King Stefan Dusan in 1331.  On the basis of this, most scholars agree that the church must have been built during the preceding decade, during the reign of Dusan’s father, King Stefan Decanski (1321-31).  Built on the remains of two older, larger churches, the church of the Presentation is a single aisled building, measuring ca. 8 x 12m in plan.  A massive dividing wall that functions as the iconostasis distinguishes its interior.  Originally this wall rose to a height of ca. 3.5m, but was raised during an extensive reconstruction of the church carried out in the sixteenth century.  At that time, the church was also covered by a single barrel vault, made to rest in part on the raised fourteenth-century iconostasis wall 

The exterior of the church at Lipljan, despite its modest size, shows design and technical affinities with the royal foundation, the church of the Annunciation of Gracanica monastery, located only a few kilometers away.  The lateral church facades feature arcades consisting of three equal arches supported by shallow pilasters.  Each arcade bay contains an axially placed small window.  The regular system of arcades displayed on the facades does not correspond to the interior structural disposition.  Thus, the Lipljan church, like its great counterpart at Gracanica, reveals a characteristic lack of affinity between interior structural disposition and façade articulation, a characteristic that recurs on a number of Late Byzantine churches, in contrast to the Middle Byzantine tradition.  As is the case at Gracanica, the church was built of large, carefully cut ashlars, separated by two or three brick courses.  This, combined with a limited vocabulary of decorative brick patterns, reveals a close relationship of the two buildings.  This, in turn suggests that the builder of the slightly younger church at Lipljan may have been trained at Gracanica at the time of its construction.  

Two layers of frescoes – those belonging to the original fourteenth-century church, and those executed during the sixteenth century reconstruction, are partially preserved inside the building.  The original form of the church is lost, though the possibility that it may have had a small dome should not be entirely disregarded.


Budisavci

The Church of Transfiguration (Preobrazenje) in the village of Budisavci, 17km east of Pec, also lacks historical documentation regarding its original medieval construction.  The donor’s portrait and an accompanying inscription, preserved in the church, document its extensive remodeling in 1568 under the auspices of the Serbian Archbishop Makarije (1557-1570/1).  The small cruciform church measures ca. 7.5 x 9m in plan with a dome elevated on a drum dominating its simple interior.  Architectural characteristics of the church, especially the appearance of its dome drum and its general construction technique have been linked with a group of buildings in Serbia, all associated with the activity of Archbishop Nikodim, who may have brought with him builders and artisans from Hilandar Monastery, at the time of his departure from Mount Athos to assume the role of the Serbian Archbishop in 1316-17.  The church at Budisavci, despite its opaque early history, may safely be assumed to belong to the same group of ‘lesser foundations”, all dating from the first half of the fourteenth century, and all reflecting the greatly increased building activity in Serbia, sponsored by a wealthy landed aristocracy, whose engagement echoed the lead of the Serbian Kings Milutin, Stefan Decanski, and Dusan.

Monastic Hermitages

Monastic quest for challenging, remote places for the purpose of leading solitary life in a constant battle against evil forces is a well-known phenomenon from the earliest times.  A number of such establishments are known and have been studied in remote areas of Kosovo.  While some of these were independent hermitages in their own right, many of them belonged to the so-called ‘lavra’ systems of monastic organizations.  Two groups of such hermitages are known in the vicinity of great monasteries at Decani and at Pec.

Korisa – Cave Monastery of Sv. Petar Koriski

The most celebrated and best-documented hermitage in all of Serbia is that of Sv. Petar Koriski (St. Peter of Korisa), the first Serbian anchoretic saint. On the basis of his preserved vita, and on the basis of the surviving physical evidence (as of 1998), it has been possible to reconstruct the Holy Man’s life as a hermit, and the subsequent development of his cult in a monastery associated with his name.  After the death of his parents, sometime in the 1190s, seeking complete seclusion, Peter settled in the ‘desert’, a rocky formation on the slopes of Mt. Rusenica, in the vicinity of the village Korisa, not far from Prizren.  This was a location that shares many characteristics with the Encleistra of the famous twelfth-century recluse, St. Neophitos, near Paphos, in Cyprus.  According to his hagiographer, Peter finally settled in a cave from which, with the help of Archangel Michael, he had chased away a huge serpent.  Offering repeated thanks to God, for helping him achieve this feat, he finally experienced the supreme bliss and – “after that his cave became filled with indescribable light, chasing away sleep by day and by night, and he felt as though in Heaven and not on earth, filled with joy and Divine happiness.” The text also says that Peter “began to worship the snake’s cave as God’s church and as a sacred spot, saying as Abraham had said “On the mount of the Lord it shall be provided.” (Genesis, 22, 14) The Holy Man, according to his hagiographer did not worry about “building a house, but derived joy from living in God-carved caves as if in beautiful palaces.” His hagiographer, a Monk by the name Teodosije, writing ca. 1310, reports on his own arrival at the site of Peter’s cave thus: ”Seeing his (i.e. Peter’s) ‘desert’ and the cliff upon which he had sequestered himself, I beheld the God-built dwelling made for anchorites. The cave of the most Holy Father, in which he lived superhumanly like an angel, had been made into God’s church and his tomb and the remains of his sacred relics repose in it.”

Indeed, archaeological evidence has confirmed all of this. The Holy Man’s tomb was found in the cave, adapted in the course of the fourteenth century as a side chapel of the church of St. Peter, the focus of a monastery grown around the sacred cave.  In every respect this fits the description of the Holy Land monastic sites in which caves and churches were juxtaposed in such a distinctive manner.  

Some 300-400m from the monastery of Sv. Petar Koriski is another small church with a tiny cave, evidently another sacred locus that the tradition associates with Jelena, the sister of Sv. Petar Koriski.  Despite its miniscule scale, this church, archaeologically proven to have been inhabited at the time of its final destruction in the 15th cent., was obviously a small-scale version of the main church at. St. Peter’s Monastery.  

Decani – “Hermitage of Stefan Decanski” (“Isposnica Stefana Decanskog”)

Within the gorge of the river Bistrica, not far from Decani Monastery are the remains of several medieval hermitages that are clearly related to the great monastery.  One of these is traditionally ascribed to Stefan Decanski, Serbian king and founder of the monastery of Decani.  There are no historical proofs that would confirm this attribution.  It is known, however that in 1371-72 the Serbian Patriarch Jefrem occupied one of the hermitages in the vicinity of Decani.  The so-called “Hermitage of Stefan Decanski” should perhaps be associated with the Serbian Patriarch Jefrem instead.  The hermitage was built against a sheer vertical cliff, enclosing a shallow natural cave within the cliff.  Rising through four stories in height, the hermitage is marked by a ca. 13m-high massive wall that encloses the mentioned cave.  The entrance, as was customary in such hermitages, was on the second floor.  Only the upper two floors had normal windows, suggesting that it is there that the living quarters would have been accommodate along with a private chapel, a customary component of such hermitages.  

Pec – Isposnice 

The gorge of the Bistrica river, in the vicinity of the monastic complex at Pec was studded with monastic hermitages following the same general pattern seen at Decani.  These hermitages, unfortunately, have not been systematically studied and published, and therefore their dates are not clearly established.  In most cases a hermitage consists of a small chapel with a nearby monastic cell.  Among these chapels dedicated to St. Demetrius, St. Mark and St. Nicholas have been recorded.  Though all in ruins, these three chapels have been partially excavated.  Within their remains were uncovered multiple fragments medieval sculptural decoration, as well as frescoes.  The phenomenon and its architectural and artistic characteristics have been linked with comparable older developments on Mount Athos.  

Conclusion

The preceding text provides a skeletal understanding of the enormous cultural wealth in the region of Kosovo and Metohija and the dangers it has been confronted with.  The wealth is actually far greater than an essay of this type can possibly suggest.  Still surviving are hundreds of churches and monasteries -- standing, or in ruins -- whose very existence speaks unequivocally of the presence of Serbian people in this region over hundreds of years, and their collective desire to mark their presence in their homeland.  By building churches to praise God’s glory, they were also making their earthly presence known to their contemporaries as well as to posterity.  In 1987, a book entitled Zaduzbine Kosova: spomenici i znamenja srpskog naroda (The Kosovo Foundations: monuments and landmarks of the Serbian people) was published in Prizren and in Belgrade.  On its nearly 900 pages the book provided a complete, detailed listing of all Serbian Orthodox sites in the region, built from the thirteenth to the twentieth century.  The president of the editorial committee of the book was the then Serbian-Orthodox Bishop of Raska-Prizren, presently His Holiness, the Patriarch of All Serbs, Pavle.  In his brief introductory remarks in the book, he prophetically asked a rhetorical question:  “What would the Serbian people today, either in freedom or enslaved, be without their foundations? What would we (the Serbs) be today without them in front of ourselves and in front of the whole world?” 

Today, two decades later, Kosovo has suffered a cultural catastrophe that no one could possibly have imagined in 1987.  Kosovo has endured -- and is still enduring – a process not only of ethnic cleansing of the remaining Serbian population, but of cultural cleansing as well.  Over one hundred and fifty Serbian Orthodox churches and monasteries thus far have been either burned or completely destroyed.  This is a tally of a systematic program of destruction, whose ultimate aim has been not only the creation of an ethnically pure Albanian territory, but also the erasure of all historical non-Albanian memory.  None of the perpetrators of any of these crimes that took place in two major waves – in 1999, after the region was put under the official control of the United Nations, and in March 2004, still the U.N. protectorate – have ever been identified, let alone brought to justice.  The carefully orchestrated historical revisionism – in this case – has had a massive physical corollary that most of the world has successfully managed to ignore.  Trained groups of individuals were sent out to dynamite Serbian Orthodox patrimony so that no traces of Serbian presence in Kosovo would survive.  In the shadows of the destroyed churches and monasteries the ‘revisionist-activists’ have also desecrated and destroyed hundreds of cemeteries and thousands of tombs denying even the dead, or their memory a chance of survival.  Cemeteries have been turned into garbage dumps and marble tombstones have been sold as building material…  

Remains of churches, such as St. Nicholas at Kievo-Klina and of St. Nicholas at Djurakovac-Istok in no uncertain terms symbolize the brutality of these acts.  Some of the sites of the destroyed churches were nearly cleaned of their remains already in 2003.  The message in all cases is as clear as is the monstrous character of the acts themselves.  As the political future of Kosovo is currently (April 2007) being debated in the United Nations Security Council, international efforts are still being pondered as to how to protect the four major Serbian Orthodox monasteries and churches in Kosovo – the Patriarchate of Pec, Gracanica, and Bogorodica Ljeviska.  The latter church, despite UNESCO’s urgent appeals for its restoration following the March 2004 outbreak of violence that left it extensively damaged, is still awaiting substantive action; this, also despite the fact that UNESCO has added (in the Summer of 2006) these three world-class monuments -- along with Decani – on its list of Wolrd Heritage Monuments.  While the four great monuments may enjoy some degree of – at least nominal security – the rubble that is left of the churches of St. Nicholas at Kievo-Klina and Djurakovac-Istok, will most likely be removed and a grassy patch of land will cover these, along with scores of other sites where Serbian Orthodox churches had stood for centuries.  With that, one of the dark chapters in the global history of preservation as a means of protecting civilization values will have been closed.  Its place on the list of great historical infamies should not be in doubt.
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� The latest episode involved the removal of 150m2 of lead sheets from the roof of the church.  Without roof covering the interior of the church is exposed to inevitable further deterioration on account of the effect of the elements  





